
A
G

EN
D

A
 

O
U

TSTA
N

D
IN

G
 

A
C

TIO
N

S
STR

A
TEG

IC
 

M
A

T
TER

S
C

A
SE R

EP
O

R
TS 

FR
O

M
 P

SC

 

 

 
 

 

MINUTES Meeting date: Tuesday 30 September 2025 

 
IN ATTENDANCE ONLINE  
Members: 

• Suzanne Vestri (Convener) 

• Malcolm Bell 

• Helen Donaldson 

• Morag Ferguson 

• Lezley Stewart 

Executive Team: 

• Richard Wilson (Case Manager)  

ITEM CONTENT ACTION 

STANDING ITEMS 

1.  APOLOGIES 
Apologies received from Lorna Johnston, Executive Director. 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

 
  

2.  MATTERS ARISING 
Members noted all matters arising from the last meeting, on 28 July 2025, were complete. 
 
Members noted that a service user had referred a data breach to the Information Commissioner’s 
Office. The Information Commissioner’s office had advised the Standards Commission, by email, 
that it considered the breach presented a low-level risk and was satisfied with steps taken to 
remedy the situation. Members noted it was unclear, from the email whether the Information 
Commissioner considered the Standards Commission should have reported the matter, despite 
also having assessed it as low risk. Members noted that a response from the Information 
Commissioner’s Office was received on 28 August 2025 confirming that as the breach was low 
risk, it was for the Standards Commission to decide itself whether or not to report it. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

CONSENT ITEMS 

3.  DRAFT MINUTE OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
Members reviewed and approved the minute of the meeting on 28 July 2025.  
 

 
 

STRATEGIC MATTERS 

4.  PROMOTING THE ETHICAL STANDARDS FRAMEWORK AND UPDATE ON OUTREACH WORK 
Members noted that since their last meeting: 

• The Executive Team had presented on the Model Code to Members of Glasgow Health and 
Social Care Integration Joint Board on 3 September 2025. 

• The Executive Director presented on the Model Code of Conduct at the Scottish 
Government’s Induction Workshop for new Ministerial Appointees on 10 September 2025. 

• The Case Manager and Mrs Ferguson presented on the Model Code to Members of 
Clackmannanshire & Stirling Health and Social Care Partnership on 24 September 2025. 

• Ms Vestri appeared on Good Morning Scotland on 23 September 2025 to discuss the issue of 
civility in public life.  

• Ms Vestri appeared on Scotland Tonight on 24 September 2025 to discuss the issue of civility 
in public life.  

 
 

 
 
Executive 
Team 



2 
 

Members noted that the Standards Commission had been asked by the Scottish Conservative 
Councillors Association to present a refresher training session on the Code to its elected 
members at an online session on 18 November 2025. Members further noted that the Executive 
Team had been asked to present on the Standards Commission’s work and decisions it had made 
over the past year to the SOLAR Annual Conference on 14 November 2025. Members noted that 
the Case Manager would cover the event in the absence of the Executive Director on annual 
leave. 
 
Open University E-Learning Course 
Members noted that the Improvement Service was partnering with the Open University to 
develop an e-Learning portal for elected members. Members noted that the Executive Team had 
sent draft content to the Improvement Service to serve as a basis for the course. Members noted 
substantive work was due to start on the course shortly, and it was hoped that more information 
would be available to be shared at the upcoming Monitoring Officers’ Workshop in October as 
part of the “future plans” section.  
 
Members noted that while the majority of training events presently being delivered by the 
Standards Commission were for members of the boards of devolved public bodies, including 
Health and Social Care Integration Joint Boards, the vast majority of cases referred to the 
Standards Commission concerned councillors. Members agreed to use the forthcoming 
Monitoring Officers’ workshop to remind councils that, subject to Member and staff availability, 
the Standards Commission was also able and willing to assist with providing induction and 
refresher training on the Councillors’ Code to elected members.  
 

5.  INDEPENDENT REVIEW OF EDINBURGH CITY COUNCIL’S HANDLING OF ALLEGATIONS OF 
COUNCILLOR MISCONDUCT   
Members noted that at a meeting in February 2025 Edinburgh City Council approved the 
appointment of a former Convener of the Standards Commission, Professor Kevin Dunion, to 
undertake an independent review into the Council’s handling of the allegation of misconduct 
about its former Council Leader. 
 
Members noted that Edinburgh City Council had sent a copy of the report to the Standards 
Commission on 3 July 2025 to see if it had any comments on how matters relating to the 
behaviour of elected members generally can be dealt with in a timely and effective manner.  
Members noted that, in response, the Executive Director had advised by letter of 7 July 2025 that 
the Standards Commission would be pleased to offer any assistance the Council might consider 
appropriate in terms of providing training on, and raising awareness of, the Councillors’ Code of 
Conduct and the overall ethical standards framework, both to elected members and officers. The 
Executive Director noted the Standards Commission could do so by leading sessions (either in 
person or online) or by providing standard training presentations and other educational material. 
The Executive Director further noted that both elected members and senior officers could 
contact the Standards Commission at any time if they week seeking advice or a second opinion 
about how the Code should be interpreted or would like information about the complaint 
process. 
 
The Executive Director also drew the Council’s attention to the Ethical Standards Commissioner’s 
Investigations Manual and, specifically, the provisions that stated the Commissioner might, in 
certain situations, allow a Complainer to maintain anonymity or may elect to take on the 
complaint and investigate it himself. 
 
Members requested that a further discussion take on any learning points in terms of the ethical 
standards framework at the Standards Commission’s next joint meeting with the Ethical 
Standards Commissioner, to take place in December 2025.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

BUSINESS MATTERS 



3 
 

6.  INTERIM SUSPENSION POLICY 
Members reviewed the Standards Commission’s Interim Suspension Pending Completion of 
Investigation Policy. Members agreed some minor changes aimed at providing clarity. Members 
asked the Executive Team to make the changes and thereafter publish the amended version of 
the policy on the website. 
 

 
 
Executive 
Team 

7.  PROGRESS AGAINST BUSINESS PLAN FOR 2025/26 
Members reviewed the progress made in the first half of the year to date against the actions 
outlined in the Business Plan for 2025/26. Members were pleased to note the majority of tasks 
identified for quarters one and two had been completed or progressed. 
 

 
 
 

8.  QUARTER 2 BUDGET AGAINST EXPENDITURE FOR 2025/26 
Members noted the expenditure against budget for the period 1 April to 24 September 2025. 
Members noted that there was a small underspend against budget, but this is expected to 
unwind over the second half of the year. 
 
Members noted that the 2026/27 budget bid had been submitted to Officeholder Services on 29 
August 2025. 
 

 
 
 

9.  QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE AGAINST KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
Members reviewed performance in the first five months of the year against the agreed key 
performance indicators and percentage targets, as published on the Standards Commission’s 
website. A report on these would be included in the 2025/26 Annual Report. 
 
Members noted that there had been strong performance against the majority of targets.  
Members further noted that the annual review of the suitability of key performance indicators 
was scheduled to take place in January 2026. Members resolved to take greater ownership of KPI 
targets that were the subject of the timing of their responses to requests from the Executive 
Team.  
 
Members noted the volume of Freedom of Information and Subject Access Reports received and 
dealt with by the Executive Team had increased significantly over the last year. Members asked 
the Executive Team to provide them with biannual updated about any trends in respect of the 
subject or requestors involved in these. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

10.  STANDARDS UPDATE SEPTEMBER 2025 
Members approved the Standards Update to be issued and published on 30 September 2025. 
  

 
 

11.  PROGRAMME FOR MONITORING OFFICERS’ WORKSHOP    
Members agreed the programme for the Standards Commission’s annual workshop with Council 
Monitoring officers, due to be held on 27 October 2025. Members noted the agreed programme 
would be issued to attendees, along with the September Standards Update. 
 
Members agreed that the format for the ‘breakout group’ session at this year’s workshop should 
be changed so that each group was asked to focus on one of the four topics identified. Members 
asked that a fifth be added, being whether Monitoring Officers considered there were any 
barriers that prevented council officers and members of the public making complaints about the 
alleged conduct of elected members and, if so, what these were.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

CASES UPDATE 

12.  REPORTS FROM THE ESC & SECTION 14 LETTERS 
(a) NPA/LLT/4184: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Loch Lomond 
and Trossachs National Park Authority board member under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards 
in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 

 



4 
 

(b) LA/I/4270: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to an Inverclyde 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(c) LA/DG/4041: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Dumfries and 
Galloway Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 
2000. 

 

(d) LA/H/4146: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a Highland Councillor. 
 

(e) LA/I/4235: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about an Inverclyde Councillor. 

 

(f) LA/WL/3903: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a further 
investigation report received from the ESC about a West Lothian Councillor. 

 

(g) LA/S/4221: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Stirling 

Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000.  

 

(h) LA/C/4271: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a 

Clackmannanshire Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. 

(Scotland) Act 2000.  

 

(i) LA/SB/4302: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report 

received from the ESC about a Scottish Borders Councillor. 

 

(j) LA/I/4270: Members noted that a decision was pending on a report received from the ESC 

about an Inverclyde Councillor on 25 September 2025. 

 

(k) LA/G/4223: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Glasgow City 

Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

13.  CASES 
(a) LA/NA/4086: Members noted that a Hearing was held on 30 July 2025. The Respondent was 
found to have breached the Councillors’ Code and was suspended for two months.  
 
(b) LA/AC/3994: Members noted that a Hearing was held on 5 August 2025. The Respondent was 
found to have breached the Councillors’ Code and was suspended for four months. Members 
noted the decision was the subject of an ongoing appeal. 

 

(c) LA/AB/4081: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place online on 7 October 
2025.  

 

(d) LA/AB/4147: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place online on 23 
October 2025.  

 

(e) LA/H/4028: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place online on 4 
November 2025. 

 

(f) LA/DG/4304: Members noted a three-month interim suspension had been imposed on a 
Dumfries and Galloway Councillor while the ESC was investigating complaints about his alleged 
conduct. 

 

 



5 
 

(g) LA/G/4115: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place on 20 November 
2025. 

 

(h) LA/G/4203: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place on 2 December 2025. 
 

14.  INVESTIGATIONS EXCEEDING 3 MONTHS – INTERIM REPORTS 
(a) LA/E/4130: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a City of Edinburgh Councillor had taken more than six 
months to investigate. 

 
(b) LA/G/4139: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Glasgow City Councillor had taken more than nine months 
to investigate. 

 

(c) LA/S/4312: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Stirling Councillor had taken more than four months to 
investigate. 

 

(d) NB/HES/4282: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a member of Historic Environment Scotland had taken 
more than three months to investigate. 

 

(e) LA/H/4296: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Highland Councillor had taken more than three months to 
investigate. 

 

(f) LA/AB/4265: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about an Argyll and Bute Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 

 

(g) LA/Fi/4293:  Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Fife Councillor had taken more than three months to 
investigate. 
 

 
 
 
 

15.  FEEDBACK INCLUDING ANY HEARINGS SURVEY RESPONSES 
(a) Members noted the feedback received on 11 August 2025 regarding Hearing LA/NA/4086. 
Members noted there was a provision in the Rules that noted Respondents could submit 
character references in advance of Hearings, but agreed a note highlighting this should also be 
added to the Respondent Information Template. 
 
Members further noted feedback to the effect that Panel Members had been overheard 
discussing a Hearing while it was in progress. Members agreed that they should not engage in 
any discussion on the merits of a case until such time as they were in the room set aside for 
Panel deliberations. 
 
(b) Members noted the Hearings Survey response received on 8 August 2025. 

 

(c) Members noted the feedback received on the training event on the Model Code for Members 
of Glasgow Health and Social Care Integration Joint Board on 3 September 2025 
 
(d) Members noted the Hearings Survey response received on 19 August 2025. 

 

(e) Members noted the Service Delivery Complaint received on 6 September, and the Standards 
Commission’s response of 9 September 2025. 

 
 

ANY OTHER BUSINESS 



6 
 

 

16.  ANY EMERGING RISKS  
None identified. 
 
AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT SCS MEETING 
Members agreed to advise the Executive Director of any items to be included in the agenda for 
discuss at the next meeting. 

 
 
 
Executive 
Team 
 
 

17.  2025/26 DIARY DATES AND WORKPLAN 
Members noted the diary dates and ongoing workplan.  
 
DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
Members noted that the next meeting of the Standards Commission was scheduled to take place 
online on Monday, 3 November 2025.  
 

 
 
 


